

Effect of Establishment Methods and Nutrient Management Practices on Growth Characters and Yield of Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.)

ABSTRACT

Aim: Study was conducted to compare and to identify the best combination of rice crop establishment method and nutrient management in terms of crop growth, development and yield.

Study design: Experiment was laid out in splitplot design.

Place and Duration of Study: The field experiments were conducted at the research farm of Indian Institute of Rice Research, Hyderabad, Telangana State, India during the kharif and rabi seasons of 2011-12 and 2012-13.

Methodology: The treatments consisted of four establishment methods (System of rice intensification (SRI), modified drumseeder, normal drumseeder and normal transplanting) as main plot treatments and four nutrient management practices (100% RDN through inorganic, 75% RDN through inorganic+25% RDN through organic, 50% RDN through inorganic+50% RDN through organic and 100% RDN through organic) as sub plot treatments with 16 treatment combinations and with three replications. Sampada variety was cultivated.

Results: Growth parameters i.e., plant height, leaf area index (LAI), dry matter accumulation, number of tillers per square meter were observed at 45,75,105 and harvest stages. The two years experimental results and the pooled mean data revealed that SRI recorded significantly superior growth parameters at all the crop growth stages followed by modified drum seeder. In respect of subplots 50% RDN through inorganic+50% RDN through organic resulted in superior growth parameters and yield.

Conclusions: The combination of SRI and 50% RDN through inorganic+50% RDN through organic resulted in greater growth parameters and grain yield.

Key words: SRI, direct seeding, modified drumseeder, INM

INTRODUCTION:

Rice is the staple nourishment of over half of the world's population. It is an excellent dietary vitality source for seventeen nations in Asia and the Pacific, nine nations in the north and South America and eight nations in Africa [1]. It is the major source of calories for 40% of the world population [2]. About 77% of the global rice production in the world is done by conventional transplanting methods in puddled soil [3] [4]. Conventional transplanting system of rice crop production requires high inputs of labour, water, capital, and energy in large amount so that it has become less profitable at present due to the lack of these resources [3] [5]. A shortage of labour during peak periods increase labour wages and make transplanting operation costly [6]. Thus, the farmers prefer direct seeding method as a viable alternative to the drudgery and labour intensive conventional transplanting system.

Direct seeding probably is one of the oldest method of crop establishment which is now practiced in many Asian countries [7]. Direct rice seeding has many advantages to the farmers such as higher economic returns, faster and easier technology, less labour and water requiring, suitable for mechanization, short crop duration and have less methane emission [8] [9].

Another major concern in rice production systems is the dwindling trend of availability of water resources [10]. Out of 70-80% freshwater used in agriculture, rice accounts for 85% in total and 30% in puddling only. A 10% increase in irrigation efficiency can help bring additional 14 million ha area under irrigation [11]. Hence there is a need to develop and adopt water saving methods in rice cultivation so that production and productivity levels are elevated despite the looming water crisis [11] [12]. SRI method has found to save 22 to 38 per cent of water respectively during dry and wet season respectively over other method of rice establishment [13]. Efficient natural resource management and nutrients could be better utilized under SRI along with integration of nutrient sources to realize the maximum rice crop productivity through enhancement of growth and physiological aspects of low-land rice [14].

Comment [U1]: study was conducted almost a decade ago. is the result still valid with the change of weather?

Comment [U2]: what does this abbreviation stand for?

Comment [U3]: hanging. this type of sentence is only for record writing, unsuitable for scientific journal

Comment [U4]: in abstract you do not use i.e.

Comment [U5]: of what? days after transplanting, after application of treatment? pls specify

Comment [U6]: revise

Comment [U7]: source of energy or carb or etc. vitality source does not sound right. as for the stat given, pls cite from jcr journals.

Comment [U8]: produced through

Comment [U9]: and hence

Comment [U10]: ?

Comment [U11]: revise

Comment [U12]: start in full form and then abbreviation in parenthesis

Comment [U13]: was

Comment [U14]: which method?

Comment [U15]: what natural resource are you referring to

Intensive agriculture and decreasing the use of organic material, have led to severe degradation of soil fertility and productivity of rice cropping systems [15]. The decline or stagnation in yield has been attributed to nutrient mining and reduced use of organics [16]. Under high input production systems where productivity cannot be further increased with incremental use of mineral fertilizers alone, the addition of organic sources could increase yields through increased soil productivity and higher fertilizer use efficiency [17] [18] [19]. [20] reported increased yield and nutrient use efficiency in rice with organics. The combined use of organic and inorganic fertilizers has been reported to not only to meet the nutrients needs of the crop but also has been found to sustain large scale productivity goals [21]. A synergistic effect on crop yield is reported through common use of fertilizer and organics has improved soil fertility. Integrated nutrient management involves maintenance of soil fertility, sustainability of crop production and the beneficial effect of integrated plant nutrient supply(IPNS) in low land rice has been well reported by several workers [22].

2. Materials and Methods

The present investigation was conducted during kharif and rabi seasons of 2011-12 and 2012-13 at Indian Institute of Rice Research farm, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad, Telengana state, India. The farm is geographically situated at an altitude of 542.7 m above mean sea level on 17° 19' N latitude and 78° 29' E longitudes. According to Troll's climatic classification, it falls under semi-arid tropics (SAT). The soil was clay loam, alkaline in reaction (pH 8.0 -8.2), with 0.48-0.52% of organic matter, 210-223 kg ha⁻¹ of available nitrogen, 39-43 kg ha⁻¹ of available P and 525-542 kg ha⁻¹ of available K. The semi dwarf, high yielding rice variety Sampadha, having crop duration of 135 days with yield potential of 5.8-6.8 t ha⁻¹ was grown in the experimental site. Usually normal drum seeders are available with close spacing (20x5-8 cm²), but for this study a new drumseeder was fabricated with 25X25 cm² spacing to test the wider spacing efficiency in direct seeding. And this treatment was denoted as modified drumseeder. The experiment was laid out in splitplot design with sixteen treatments and three replications. The treatment combinations consisted of four establishment methods i.e., system of rice intensification(SRI) (M₁), modified drumseeder (25x25cm² spacing)(M₂), normal drumseeder (M₃) and normal transplanting(NTP) (M₄) in main plots and four nutrient management practices i.e., 100% RDN (recommended dose of nitrogen) through inorganic(N₁), 75% RDN through inorganic+ 25% RDN through organic(N₂), 50% RDN through inorganic+50% RDN through organic(N₃) and 100% RDN through organic(N₄) in sub plots. In case of NTP and SRI the sprouted seeds were broadcasted uniformly in well prepared seed beds. And on the same day seeds were sown in the respective main field plots for drumseeder and modified drumseeder. The recommended dose of fertilizer was 120 Kg N: 60 Kg P₂O₅ : 40 Kg K₂O ha⁻¹. The recommended dose of phosphorus @ 60 kg P₂O₅ kg ha⁻¹ through single super phosphate (SSP), potassium @ 40 kg K₂O ha⁻¹ as muriate of potash (MOP) and ZnSO₄ @ 20 kg ha⁻¹ were applied to all the treatments uniformly as basal application. In case of 100% inorganic treatment nitrogen was applied through urea in three equal splits as ½ as basal, ¼ at maximum tillering and ¼ at panicle initiation stage. In INM treatments urea was applied as the inorganic source of nitrogen was applied through urea in three equal splits at basal, 30 DAT (days after transplanting) and at 60 DAT. The organic source of nitrogen was applied based on the nitrogen equivalent of vermicompost as basal. Twelve days and twenty one days old seedlings were used for transplanting in SRI and NTP respectively. Spacing of 25x25cm² was maintained in SRI and modified drumseeder methods and for NTP it was 20x15 cm².

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1. Plant height

During both the years, the average plant height increased linearly up to 105 DAS and continued to increase until maturity at a diminishing rate. During both the years of the study, plant height recorded significantly higher in system of rice intensification (SRI) and it was followed by modified drum seeder at all the crop growth stages over normal drumseeder and NTP (Table 1). Taller plants resulted by adopting SRI method might be due to transplanting of younger and single seedling by keeping the roots straight (ensuring that the roots do not assume 'J' shape). Wider spacing maintenance in SRI and modified drumseeder in both row to row and plant to plant might have encouraged vigorous root system and the plants get sufficient space above the ground to grow and the increased light transmission in the canopy thus leading to greater plant height. Similar results were reported by [23], [24], [25], [8] and [26]. During both the years of experimentation, it was found that at all the stages, 50% RDN through inorganic+50% RDN through organic treatment recorded significantly higher plant height compared to other treatments, followed by 100% RDN through inorganic treatment and 75% RDN through inorganic+25% RDN through organic treatment. These findings are in accordance with [21] [15].

Comment [U16]: not comprehensible

Comment [U17]: hanging

Comment [U18]: start sentence with the author;s name

Comment [U19]: ?

Comment [U20]: one word

Comment [U21]: do not use this word

Comment [U22]: WHY NO MENTION OF STATISTICAL ANALYSIS?

Comment [U23]: pls ensure you mention all application in terms of time of application.basal is not time,it is method of application

Comment [U24]: rephrase

Comment [U25]: how does it increase at diminishing rate.both are contrasting to each other

Comment [U26]: revise

Comment [U27]: why no mention of interaction effect?

Comment [U28]: practically all the sentences here starts with during both the years.You cannot do that,

Comment [U29]: this cant be a stand alone sentence.combine it to the previous sentence and make it a complex sentence

3.2. Leaf Area Index (LAI)

At all the stages LAI recorded was significantly higher in SRI followed by modified drum seeder over normal drumseeder and NTP during both the years (Table 2). The LAI recorded in modified drum seeder was significantly on par with SRI during kharif 2012-13, rabi 2011-12 and 2012-13. The mean percentage increases of LAI in SRI at 105 DAS ~~were~~ 48.01, 43.21, 37.70 ~~and~~ 34.01% over NTP during kharif 2011, kharif 2012, rabi 2011-12, rabi 2012-13 respectively (Table 2). This might be due to planting in square geometry with wider spacing and single seedling which facilitated for better utilization of the resources to obtain maximum leaf area and ~~higher~~ number of leaves. These results are in conformity with findings of [26], [27], [14] and [23].

Maximum LAI was observed with the treatment 50% RDN through inorganic+50% RDN through organic at 105 DAS during all the seasons of study. 100% RDN through organic registered lowest LAI at all the stages of crop growth. The treatment 50% RDN through inorganic+50% RDN through organic influenced the plant growth, tiller number and dry matter accumulation and thus manifested higher LAI. [15], [16], [27], [14] and [24] also expressed the similar opinion.

The interaction effect among planting methods and nutrient management practices on leaf area index was found significant at 45DAS during kharif 2011 and pooled kharif mean (Table 2a). The interaction was also significant at 75 DAS during kharif 2011, kharif 2012, kharif pooled mean (Table 2a), rabi 2011, rabi pooled mean at 75 DAS in both the years and in pooled means (Table 2b). The data on interaction revealed that at all these stages SRI in combination with 50% RDN through organic+50% RDN through inorganic source registered higher LAI as compared to all other establishment and nutrient management combinations.

3.3 Dry matter production (kg ha⁻¹):

Increases in dry matter production of rice was rather slow up to 45 DAS, there-after it increased linearly up to 105 DAS and further, it continued to increase until maturity but it occurred at a diminishing rate in both the years of the study (Table 3).

At 45 DAS the numerically higher values were observed with SRI (1989.8, 2607, 2290.1 and 3126.5 g of total dry matter m⁻² during 2013 and 2014, respectively) followed by modified drum seeder, over other treatments (Table 3). The similar trend was also observed at 75, 105 DAS and at harvest. Highest values of dry matter accumulation was observed at harvest with SRI which was 17.49, 23.57, 14.79 and 23.72% higher as compared to normal transplanting during 2011kharif, 2012 kharif, 2011-12 rabi and 2012-13 rabi. The higher dry matter production in SRI planting method was attributed to planting of young and single seedling at shallow depth in wider spacing and two direction cono-weeding which lead to taller plants, higher leaf area, LAI, better root growth, profuse and strong tillers with higher crop growth rate. The results obtained in this investigation are in conformity to the findings of [26] [25].

Among all the nutrient management treatments 50% RDN through inorganic+50% RDN through organic recorded significantly higher dry matter accumulation, followed by 100% inorganic treatment, over other treatments. At all the stages of crop growth lowest dry matter accumulation was observed with 100% organic treatment. At harvest 100% organic treatment recorded 16.05%, 9.49%, 13.03%, 9.59%, 11.23% and 12.55% lower drymatter accumulation as compared to 50% inorganic+50% organic in kharif2011, kharif 2012, rabi 2011-12 and 2012-13, in pooled mean kharif and in pooled mean rabi respectively. These findings were in conformity with the results of [16] and [15].

3.4. Number of tillers m⁻²

The average number of tillers m⁻² of rice increased linearly up to 90 DAS. Narrow spacing in normal drum seeder and normal transplanting, wider spacing in SRI and modified drum seeder as led to significant difference in number of tillers m⁻². But number of tillers m⁻² recorded was significantly higher in SRI over modified drum seeder at 60 and 90 DAS and of pooled means, respectively (Table 4). At all the growth stages NTP recorded significantly lower number of panicles m⁻² as compared to other establishment methods. As compared to normal transplanting SRI practice gets the benefit of the early phyllochron stages (less than four leaves) having higher potential to quick recovery and to produce more tillers. If transplanting is done beyond the fourth phyllochron (after about 15 days), the first primary tiller does not emerge and all of the descendents of this tiller are lost. Similarly, if transplanting is further delayed by the length of another phyllochron, the second primary tiller and all its descendents are also forgone. Planting in square method with wider spacing resulted in profuse tillering under SRI cultivation and facilitated plants for better utilization of the resources. Similar findings have also been reported by [26], [8], [9], [25].

Comment [U30]: ?

Comment [U31]: ?

Comment [U32]: same comment as previous

Comment [U33]: ?

In both the years application of 50% RDN through inorganic source+50% RDN through organic source recorded significantly higher tiller number m^{-2} over other all nutrient management practices. Several researchers observed similar results. 50% inorganic fertilizer with 50% organic source improved the general soil environment, physicochemical and biological conditions thus favouring the increased and timely availability of macro and micro nutrients helped in profuse tillering.

3.5. Grain yield ($kg\ ha^{-1}$)

The higher grain yield of $6535\ kg\ ha^{-1}$ & $6140\ kg\ ha^{-1}$ was recorded by SRI method during 2012 & 2011 kharif seasons respectively. Next to SRI method modified drumseeder proved its significant superiority over normal drumseeder and normal transplanting. Whereas, during 2011 kharif modified drumseeder remained at par with normal drumseeder but was found significantly superior over normal transplanting normal drum seeder (Table 5). The pooled data also indicated that SRI method stood first with grain yield of $6337.5\ kg\ ha^{-1}$ followed by modified drumseeder, normal drumseeder and normal transplanting. In terms of percentage increase in yield due to SRI over modified drumseeder, normal drumseeder and normal transplanting was 9.27, 18.24, 21.74% respectively. During rabi season of 2011-12 and 2012-13 SRI method was found significantly superior than the remaining three crop establishment methods. There was high yield difference of $579\ kg\ ha^{-1}$ and $358\ kg\ ha^{-1}$ between SRI and modified drumseeder in first and second rabi seasons respectively. The pooled data also showed the advantage of $468\ kg\ ha^{-1}$ by SRI over modified drumseeder. These results were in accordance with the findings of [28], [29].

Comment [U34]: one or two words?pls check for uniformity

Comment [U35]: cant start with conjunction

The yield advantage due to SRI over conventional planting was mainly due to more number of tiller production per unit area accompanied by maximum panicle bearing tillers with low spikelet sterility. Since planting of young seedlings of 12 days in main field with immediate establishment have facilitated early initiation of tillers. It is evident that highest tillers production was observed with SRI planting. Controlled irrigation also augmented the fresh root production till flowering stage and does helped in supplementation of nutrient requires for supporting of filling capacity of panicles.

Among the subplots 50% RDN through inorganic + 50% RDN through organic proved its superiority during all the seasons of experiment. During first kharif season 50% RDN through inorganic+ 50% RDN through organic remained at par with 100% RDN through inorganic. But 2012 kharif data and the kharif pooled data indicated the significant superiority of 50% RDN through inorganic + 50% RDN through organic source. Both the rabi seasons data revealed that 50% RDN through inorganic + 50% RDN through organic was on par with 100% RDN through inorganic and found significantly better over remaining other treatments. The results emphasize the concepts of INM for high grain production and also sustainability of soil fertility [30], [31]. During all the seasons 100% organic treatment recorded lowest grain yield [32].

The interaction effect of planting methods and nutrient management practices on grain yield during all the seasons of study and in pooled means was found to be significant (Table 5a). During kharif 2011, kharif 2012, rabi 2011-12, rabi 2012-13 and in kharif and rabi pooled means showed that SRI in combination with 50% RDN through inorganic source+50% RDN through organic source recorded significantly higher grain yield over other establishment and nutrient combinations.

3.6. Straw yield ($kg\ ha^{-1}$)

Straw yield of rice was significantly higher in system of rice intensification and during kharif and rabi seasons of 2012-13 it was significantly on par with modified drum seeder treatment (Table 6). During all the seasons straw yield recorded by modified drum seeder was statistically on par with normal drum seeder. By observing the data of all the four seasons it was witnessed-evident that wider spacing treatments recorded higher straw yield as compared to closer spacing treatments. It was probably due to more dry matter production per unit area caused by better nutrient absorption from soil, increased rate of metabolic processes, higher rate of light absorption and increased rate of photosynthetic activity that produced higher plant height and leaf area index as compared to normal transplanting. These results are in agreement with the findings of [28] [29] [33].

Comment [U36]: SRI

During all the four seasons and in pooled means highest straw yield was observed with treatment 50% RDN through inorganic source + 50% RDN through organic source. The superiority of this treatment was because of adequate supply of nitrogen throughout crop growth period that led to higher dry matter production [31]. The lowest straw yield was found with treatment 100% organic during all the seasons [32].

4. CONCLUSIONS:

SRI registered superior growth characters and higher yield of rice over other establishment methods. Among nutrient management practices 50% inorganic+50% organic performed better in

terms of growth and yield. A combination of SRI along with 50% inorganic+50% organic nutrient management practice recorded significantly superior growth characters and higher yield over [the](#) rest of the treatments.

REFERENCES:

1. Poudel S. Effect of different crop establishment methods on rice growth, productivity and profitability- a review. Food and Agribusiness Management. 2020; 1(2): 59–62.
2. Baishya LK, Rathore SS, Dharmendrasingh D, Deka BC. Effect of integrated nutrient management on rice productivity, profitability and soil fertility. Annals of Plant and Soil Research. 2015; 17(1): 86–90.
3. Chakraborty D, Ladha JK, Rana DS, Jat ML, Gathala MK, Yadav S, et al. A global analysis of alternative tillage and crop establishment practices for economically and environmentally efficient rice production. Scientific reports. 2017; 7(1): 1–11.
4. Xu L, Li X, Wang X, Xiong D, Wang F. Comparing the grain yields of direct-seeded and transplanted rice: A meta-analysis. Agronomy. 2019; 9(11): 767.
5. Guru P, Choudhary R, Kumar A, Jhorar R, Singh VD. Recent production technologies of rice for its sustainable cultivation in Haryana. International Journal of Agricultural Sciences. 2017; 13(1): 83–92.
6. Singh SK, Abraham T, Kumar R, Kumar R. Response of crop establishment methods and split application of nitrogen on productivity of rice under irrigated ecosystem. Environment and ecology. 2017; 35(2A): 859–862.
7. Saravanane P. Effect of different weed management options on weed flora, rice grain yield and economics in dry direct-seeded rice. Indian journal of weed science. 2020; 52 (2): 102–106.
8. Bedari A, Rawat G, Amgain LP, Thapa DB, Poudel M. Productivity and profitability of different varieties of Chaite rice grown under different sowing methods at Baniyani, Jhapa. Nepalese journal of agricultural sciences. 2020; 19: 155–164.
9. Sahoo K, Ray M, Sahoo SK. Effect of different crop establishment methods on yield and yield of wet season rice. Environment and ecology. 2017; 35(3A): 1854–1858.
10. Rahman A, Salam MA, Kader MA. Effect of crop establishment methods on the yield of boro rice. Journal of bangladesh agricultural University. 2019; 17(4): 521–525.
11. Kaur J, Mahal SS. Irrigation scheduling in direct seeded rice (*Oryza sativa* L.)-A review. Agricultural Reviews. 2015; 36(3): 208–217.
12. Bhat MA, Hussain A, Ganai MA, Jehangir IA, Teli NA. Effect of different crop establishment methods and nutrient management practices on yield of rice under Kashmir valley conditions. Journal of crop and weed. 2018; 14(1): 30–34.
13. Singh CS, Mohit SS, Singh K, Singh AK, Ashok KR. Growth and yield response of rice cultivars under system of rice intensification and conventional method of rice production system. International journal for environmental research. 2015; 9(3&4): 1077–1081.
14. Senthilvalavan P, Ravichandran M. Growth and physiological characters of rice as influenced by integrated nutrient management under SRI in Cauvery deltaic zone of Tamil Nadu. Annals of plant and soil research. 2019; 21(3): 210–216.

Comment [U37]: too little references used

15. Kumar V, Kumar T, Singh G, Singh RA. Effect of integrated nutrient management on yield of rice and its residual effect on wheat in rice-wheat system under lowland. *Annals of plant and soil research*. 2017; 19(4): 360-365.
16. Mondal S, Mallikarjun M, Ghosh M, Ghosh DC, Timsina J. Effect of integrated nutrient management on growth and productivity of hybrid rice. *Journal of Agricultural Science and Technology*. 2015; B5:297-308.
17. Sarangi DR, Sahoo TR, Sethy S, Chourasia M, Prasad SM, Mohanta RK, et al. Effect of replacing a part of nitrogenous fertilizer by brown manuring in direct seeded rice: A field study. *Oryza- an international journal on rice*. 2016; 53(2): 226-228.
18. Aasif M, Chinnamani I, Kumar NS, Hemalatha M, Suresh, S. Influence of Integrated Nutrient management practices on yield and nutrient uptake of rice under system of rice intensification. *International journal of advances in agricultural science and technology*. 2018; 5 (7): 10-16.
19. Pandit TK, Mookherjee S, Karforma J. Performance of direct seeded rice under integrated nutrient management practices in old alluvial soils of West Bengal. *International research journal of pure & applied chemistry*. 2020; 21(5):19-24.
20. Singh D, Kumar A. Effect of sources of nitrogen on growth, yield and uptake of nutrient in rice. *Annals of plant and soil research*. 2014; 16(4): 359–361.
21. Yadav L, Meena N. Performance of aromatic rice genotype as influenced by integrated nitrogen management. *Indian Journal of Agronomy*. 2014; 59(2): 251–255.
22. Jat LK, Singh YV. Plant growth and yield as affected by application of organic inputs with fertilizer in rice wheat cropping sequence. *Indian journal of plant and soil*. 2019; 6(1): 25-31.
23. Hussain A, Lone AH, Bhat MA, Ganai MA, Teeli NA, Najeeb S, Shikari AB. Yield and physiological response of newly released rice (*Oryza sativa*) varieties to crop establishment methods under temperate conditions of Kashmir. *Indian journal of agronomy*. 2018; 63 (4): 441-446.
24. Jat AL, Srivastava VK, Singh RK. Effect of crop establishment methods and integrated nitrogen management on productivity of hybrid rice-wheat cropping system. *Indian journal of agronomy*. 2015; 60(3): 341–346.
25. Wahlang B, Das A, Layek J, Munda GC, Ramkrushna GI, Panwar AS. Effect of establishment methods and nutrient management on physiological attributes and water-use efficiency of rice in a sub-tropical climate. *Indian journal of agronomy*. 2015; 60 (4): 534-540
26. Thirumeninathan S, Jayanthi C, Karthikeyan R, Ravichandiran V. Effect of different crop establishment techniques on growth, yield attributes and yield of rice under puddled condition. *Madras Agricultural Journal*. 2017; 104 (10-12): 315-318.
27. Singh DK, Pandey PC, Ali N, Gupta S. Stand establishment techniques of rice in conjunction with nutrient sources for soil health and productivity of rice-wheat cropping system. *Indian journal of agronomy*. 2015b; 60(1): 31-37.
28. Upendrarao A, Ramanamurthy KV, Madhukumar K, Visalakashmi V, Harisatyanarayana N, Govindarao S. Alternate crop establishment methods for water-saving and high rice productivity in north coastal Andhra Pradesh. *Current agriculture research journal*. 2020; 8(3): 219-223.

29. Pramod K, Ghanshyam S, Prashantdeo S, Tejbal S, Anand S, Lakrakairovin. Effect of different crop establishment methods and nitrogen levels on the performance of kharif season rice in the Indo-Gangetic plains of eastern Uttar Pradesh. *Crop research*. 2021; 56(1&2): 1-7.
30. Amanullah, Hidayatullah. Influence of organic and inorganic nitrogen on grain yield and yield components of hybrid rice in north western Pakistan. *Rice science*. 2016; 23(6): 326-333.
31. MeherMalika Md, Islam RMd, RezaulKarim, Huda A, Jahiruddin M. Organic and inorganic fertilizers influence the nutrient use efficiency and yield of a rice variety BINA dhan7. *Academic research journal of agricultural science and research*. 2015; 3(7): 192-200.
32. Elhabe, H. Effect of organic and inorganic fertilizers on rice and some nutrients availability under different water regimes. *Journal of agricultural science and food research*. 2018; 9(4): 247-251.
33. Nahar L, Sarker ABS, Mahbub MM, Akter R. Effect of crop establishment method and nutrient management on yield and yield attributes of short duration aman rice. *Bangladesh agronomy journal*. 2017; 21(1): 117-123.

Table 1. Plant height (cm) at different stages of crop growth as influenced by establishment methods and nutrient management practices								
	45 DAS		75 DAS		105 DAS		At harvest	
	Kharif	Rabi	Kharif	Rabi	Kharif	Rabi	Kharif	Rabi
MAIN PLOTS	Pooled	Pool	Pooled	Pooled	Pooled	Pooled	Pooled	Pooled
M1 (SRI)	37.75	40.90	76.58	82.68	93.49	100.61	101.60	106.30
M2 (Modified Drum Seeder)	34.10	36.10	69.22	70.83	87.00	91.59	90.50	95.50
M3 (Normal Drum seeder)	34.50	36.50	70.78	80.08	79.61	84.01	89.70	94.70
M4 (NTP)	32.00	32.50	60.57	66.09	74.36	80.73	83.10	89.50
S.Em±	0.40	0.80	1.88	0.97	1.62	1.59	2.30	2.20
CD (P=.05)	1.30	2.80	6.49	3.36	5.60	5.49	8.00	7.50
SUBPLOTS								
N1 (100% Inorg)	35.40	37.80	71.45	76.45	85.82	91.18	93.40	98.60
N2 (75% Inorg+25% org)	32.70	34.30	67.00	73.11	80.21	86.23	87.40	94.00
N3 (50% Inorg+50% org)	39.20	41.60	76.82	81.25	93.33	96.15	101.20	104.10
N4 (100%org)	30.90	32.40	61.87	68.86	75.11	83.38	82.90	89.20
S.Em±	0.80	1.00	1.34	1.33	1.68	1.69	1.90	2.00
CD (P=.05)	2.40	2.80	3.91	3.89	4.90	4.92	5.60	5.90
MEAN	34.60	36.50	69.28	74.92	83.62	89.23	91.20	96.50
INTERACTIONS								
Sub at same level of Main								
S.Em±	1.70	1.90	2.68	2.66	3.36	3.37	3.90	4.00
CD (P=.05)	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Main at same level of Sub								
S.Em±	1.50	1.90	2.99	2.50	3.33	3.32	4.10	4.10
CD (P=.05)	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS

Comment [U38]: remove,since you are analyzing pooled mean for this.

Comment [U39]: SEM or S.E.M

Comment [U40]: which statistical method used?

	45 DAS						75 DAS						105 DAS						At harvest					
	Kharif			Rabi			Kharif			Rabi			Kharif			Rabi			Kharif			Rabi		
MAIN PLOTS	2011	2012	Pooled	2011	2012	Poolpooled	2011	2012	Pooled	2011	2012	Pooled	2011	2012	Pooled	2011	2012	Pooled	2011	2012	Pooled	2011	2012	Pooled
M1 (SRI)	1.44	1.63	1.54	1.73	2.00	1.86	4.31	3.91	4.11	4.72	5.14	4.93	5.98	5.70	5.84	6.61	7.04	6.82	5.35	5.30	5.32	5.86	6.32	6.09
M2 (Modified Drum Seeder)	1.30	1.45	1.37	1.47	1.60	1.54	3.38	3.25	3.31	3.62	4.17	3.90	5.51	5.15	5.33	6.05	6.47	6.26	4.72	4.94	4.83	5.59	5.91	5.75
M3 (Normal Drum seeder)	1.06	1.31	1.19	1.19	1.38	1.28	2.58	2.36	2.47	3.31	3.71	3.51	4.65	4.57	4.61	5.32	5.96	5.64	4.01	4.35	4.18	4.91	5.31	5.11
M4 (NTP)	0.84	1.15	1.00	1.07	1.19	1.13	2.21	2.24	2.22	2.69	3.00	2.85	4.04	3.98	4.01	4.80	5.25	5.02	3.59	3.72	3.65	4.44	4.87	4.65
S.Em±	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.05	0.06	0.04	0.07	0.07	0.06	0.13	0.15	0.11	0.18	0.13	0.12	0.18	0.21	0.15	0.15	0.16	0.05	0.18	0.20	0.14
CD (<i>P</i> =.05)	0.10	0.11	0.06	0.18	0.20	0.15	0.25	0.25	0.20	0.44	0.51	0.40	0.63	0.46	0.42	0.63	0.74	0.52	0.51	0.57	0.17	0.62	0.68	0.47
SUBPLOTS																								
N1 (100% Inorg)	1.33	1.53	1.43	1.48	1.64	1.56	3.28	3.11	3.19	3.84	4.24	4.04	5.26	5.19	5.23	5.88	6.40	6.14	4.62	4.90	4.76	5.38	5.79	5.58
N2 (75% Inorg+25% org)	1.00	1.25	1.13	1.25	1.44	1.34	2.84	2.63	2.74	3.34	3.75	3.55	4.82	4.62	4.72	5.45	6.01	5.73	4.17	4.32	4.24	4.87	5.41	5.14
N3 (50% Inorg+50% org)	1.52	1.70	1.61	1.63	1.88	1.75	3.98	3.71	3.84	4.22	4.71	4.47	5.71	5.48	5.59	6.40	6.82	6.61	5.10	5.18	5.14	5.91	6.15	6.03
N4 (100%org)	0.79	1.06	0.93	1.09	1.23	1.16	2.39	2.31	2.35	2.93	3.32	3.12	4.39	4.11	4.25	5.05	5.49	5.27	3.78	3.91	3.85	4.63	5.06	4.85
S.Em±	0.03	0.04	0.02	0.05	0.05	0.04	0.08	0.08	0.07	0.13	0.13	0.08	0.17	0.16	0.14	0.18	0.21	0.11	0.16	0.15	0.13	0.18	0.18	0.14
CD (<i>P</i> =.05)	0.08	0.12	0.06	0.13	0.14	0.11	0.23	0.24	0.19	0.37	0.37	0.23	0.49	0.46	0.40	0.53	0.60	0.32	0.48	0.45	0.39	0.53	0.53	0.42
MEAN	1.16	1.39	1.27	1.36	1.54	1.45	3.12	2.94	3.03	3.58	4.00	3.79	5.04	4.85	4.95	5.69	6.18	5.94	4.42	4.58	4.50	5.20	5.60	5.40
INTERACTIONS																								
Sub at same level of Main																								
S.Em±	0.06	0.08	0.04	0.09	0.10	0.07	0.16	0.16	0.13	0.25	0.25	0.15	0.34	0.31	0.27	0.36	0.41	0.22	0.33	0.31	0.27	0.36	0.36	0.29
CD (<i>P</i> =.05)	0.16	NS	0.12	NS	NS	NS	0.47	0.48	0.38	0.74	NS	0.45	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Main at same level of Sub																								
S.Em±	0.06	0.08	0.04	0.09	0.10	0.08	0.16	0.16	0.13	0.25	0.26	0.18	0.34	0.30	0.26	0.36	0.42	0.24	0.32	0.31	0.24	0.36	0.37	0.28
CD(<i>P</i> =.05)	0.17	NS	0.12	NS	NS	NS	0.47	0.49	0.39	0.78	NS	0.55	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS

[illegible]

Table 4: Number of tillers m⁻² at various growth stages as influenced by establishment methods and nutrient management practices

[illegible]

Table 5: Grain yield (kg ha ⁻¹) as influenced by establishment methods and nutrient management practices						
Treatments	Kharif			Rabi		
MAIN PLOTS	2011	2012	Pooled	2011	2012	Pooled
M1 (SRI)	6140	6535	6338	6438	6645	6541
M2 (Modified Drum seeder)	5356	6244	5800	5859	6287	6073
M3 (Normal Drum Seeder)	5084	5635	5359	5392	6090	5741
M4 (NTP)	4944	5468	5206	5356	6025	5690
S.Em±	137	138	34	112	117	47
C.D. (<i>P</i> =.05)	475	477	117	388	405	162
SUBPLOTS						
N1 (100% Inorg)	5363	6124	5743	5898	6408	6153
N2 (75% Inorg+25% org)	5300	5827	5563	5591	6203	5897
N3 (50% Inorg+50% org)	5693	6383	6038	6033	6457	6245
N4 (100%org)	5168	5547	5358	5523	5980	5751
S.Em±	107	92	67	108	106	86
C.D. (<i>P</i> =.05)	311	269	196	316	309	252
GENERAL MEAN	5381	5970	5676	5761	6262	6011
INTERACTIONS						
Sub at same level of Main						
S.Em±	213	185	134	216	211	173
CD (<i>P</i> =.05)	622	539	391	631	617	505
Main at same level of Sub						
S.Em±	230	211	121	218	217	157
CD (<i>P</i> =.05)	716	665	358	669	668	465

Table 5a: Interaction of crop establishment methods and nutrient management practices on grain yield (kg ha ⁻¹)																														
	Kharif 2011					Kharif 2012					Kharif pooled mean					Rabi 2011-12					Rabi 2012-13					Rabi pooled mean				
Establishment methods	N ₁	N ₂	N ₃	N ₄	Mea n	N ₁	N ₂	N ₃	N ₄	ME AN	N ₁	N ₂	N ₃	N ₄	ME AN	N ₁	N ₂	N ₃	N ₄	ME AN	N ₁	N ₂	N ₃	N ₄	ME AN	N ₁	N ₂	N ₃	N ₄	ME AN
M1-SRI	6292	6092	6762	5414	6140	6974	6821	6523	5822	6535	6556	6307	6868	5618	6337	6534	6310	7090	5817	6438	7058	6646	7073	5801	6645	6796	6478	7081	5809	6541
M2- Modified drum seeder	5482	4942	5749	5249	5356	6643	6625	5872	583	6244	6053	5407	6196	5542	5799	6079	6018	6055	5283	5859	6363	6041	6603	6141	6287	6220	6029	6329	5711	6072
M3- Normal drum seeder	4753	5451	4910	5222	5084	6221	5929	5539	4851	5635	5341	5494	5565	5036	5359	5416	4953	5315	5882	5392	6433	5995	6023	5907	6090	5924	5474	5669	5894	5740
M4- NTP	4923	4714	5351	4787	4944	5695	5121	5375	5681	5468	5022	5044	5522	5233	5205	5562	5082	5670	5109	5356	5777	6128	6127	6069	6025	5669	5604	5898	5589	5690
MEAN	5363	5300	5693	5168		6383	6124	5827	5547		5743	5563	6038	5357		5898	5591	6033	5523		6408	6203	6457	5980		6152	5896	6244	5751	
	S.Em±		CD (P=.05)			S.Em±		(P=.05)			S.Em±		CD at (P=.05)			S.Em±		CD at (P=.05)			S.Em±		CD at (P=.05)			S.Em±		CD at (P=.05)		
Sub at same level of main	213		622			185		539			134		391			216		631			211		617			173		505		
Main at same level of sub	230		716			211		665			121		358			218		669			217		668			157		465		

Table 6: Straw yield (kg ha ⁻¹) of rice as influenced by establishment methods and nutrient management practices means						
	Kharif			Rabi		
MAIN PLOTS	2011	2012	Pooled	2011	2012	Pooled
M1 (SRI)	7188.08	7542.75	7365.42	7342.08	7652.58	7497.33
M2 (Modified Drum Seeder)	6109.92	6956.08	6533.00	6679.17	7121.67	6900.42
M3 (Normal Drum Seeder)	5793.08	6480.75	6136.92	6083.42	6539.33	6311.38
M4 (NTP)	5278.08	5974.58	5626.33	5759.00	6302.17	6030.58
S.Em±	140.83	185.79	123.59	155.42	195.07	126.46
C.D. at 5%	487.35	642.92	427.68	537.81	675.04	437.62
SUBPLOTS						
N1 (100% Inorg)	6138.33	6922.25	6530.29	6588.42	7044.25	6816.33
N2 (75% Inorg+25% org)	5996.17	6545.25	6270.71	6313.42	6749.17	6531.29
N3 (50% Inorg+50% org)	6617.25	7393.67	7005.46	7026.00	7486.33	7256.17
N4 (100%org)	5617.42	6093.00	5855.21	5935.83	6336.00	6135.92
S.Em±	131.83	158.55	92.02	147.15	170.44	106.65
C.D. at 5%	384.78	462.77	268.58	429.50	497.49	311.28
General Mean	6092.29	6738.54	6415.42	6465.92	6903.94	6684.93
INTERACTIONS						
Sub at same level of Main						
S.Em±	263.66	317.10	184.04	294.30	340.89	213.30
CD at 5%	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Main at same level of Sub						
S.Em±	268.28	331.56	201.68	298.52	353.85	223.86
CD at 5%	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS

Table 2a: Interaction of crop establishment methods and nutrient management practices on LAI																									
	at 45 DAS during kharif 2011					at 45 DAS in pooled kharif					at 75 DAS during kharif 2011					at 75 DAS during kharif 2012					at 75 DAS in pooled kharif				
Establishment methods	N ₁	N ₂	N ₃	N ₄	ME AN	N ₁	N ₂	N ₃	N ₄	MEA N	N ₁	N ₂	N ₃	N ₄	ME AN	N ₁	N ₂	N ₃	N ₄	ME AN	N ₁	N ₂	N ₃	N ₄	ME AN
M1-SRI	1.74	1.10	1.96	0.98	1.44	2.03	1.80	1.24	1.09	1.54	4.65	3.84	5.86	2.90	4.31	4.34	3.39	5.21	2.71	3.91	5.54	4.50	3.62	2.81	4.11
M2- Modified drum seeder	1.45	1.24	1.65	0.84	1.30	1.72	1.50	1.25	1.03	1.37	3.45	3.17	4.06	2.84	3.38	3.30	2.98	4.01	2.70	3.25	4.04	3.38	3.08	2.77	3.31
M3- Normal drum seeder	1.23	0.96	1.36	0.70	1.06	1.44	1.33	1.14	0.84	1.19	2.65	2.39	3.24	2.04	2.58	2.42	2.09	2.96	1.98	2.36	3.10	2.54	2.24	2.01	2.47
M4- NTP	0.90	0.71	1.10	0.65	0.84	1.25	1.10	0.88	0.75	1.00	2.36	1.96	2.74	1.78	2.21	2.36	2.07	2.67	1.84	2.24	2.71	2.36	2.02	1.81	2.22
MEAN	1.33	1.00	1.52	0.79		1.61	1.43	1.13	0.93		3.28	2.84	3.98	2.39		3.11	2.63	3.71	2.31		3.84	3.19	2.74	2.35	
	S.E m±	CD at 5%				S.Em±	CD at 5%				S.Em ±	CD at 5%				S.Em ±	CD at 5%				S.E m±	CD at 5%			
Sub at same level of main	0.06	0.16				0.04	0.12				0.16	0.47				0.16	0.48				0.13	0.38			
Main at same level of sub	0.06	0.17				0.04	0.12				0.16	0.47				0.16	0.49				0.13	0.39			

Table 2b: Interaction of crop establishment methods and nutrient management practices on LAI										
	75 DAS during rabi 2011-12					at 75 DAS in pooled rabi				
Establishment methods	N ₁	N ₂	N ₃	N ₄	MEAN	N ₁	N ₂	N ₃	N ₄	MEAN
M1-SRI	5.26	4.12	6.09	3.40	4.72	6.15	5.45	4.42	3.71	4.93
M2- Modified drum seeder	3.76	3.39	4.10	3.23	3.62	4.50	4.02	3.66	3.41	3.90
M3- Normal drum seeder	3.49	3.15	3.61	2.98	3.31	3.97	3.70	3.33	3.03	3.51
M4- NTP	2.86	2.70	3.09	2.12	2.69	3.26	3.00	2.78	2.35	2.85
MEAN	3.84	3.34	4.22	2.93		4.47	4.04	3.55	3.12	
	S.Em ±		CD at 5%			S.Em ±		CD at 5%		
Sub at same level of main	0.25		0.74			0.15		0.45		
Main at same level of sub	0.25		0.78			0.18		0.55		